Received Washington State Supreme Court

FEB 1 0 2016

Supreme Court No. 93868 | Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

(Court of Appeals No. 73631-1)

Division I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VALERIE SLOTKE, an unmarried woman.

FILED

Defendant-Petitioner.

٧.

MAR 7 2016

VASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY, AS TRUSTEE FOR IXIS REAL ESTATE CAPITAL TRUST 2006-HE3 MORTGAGE PASS THROUGH CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-HE3,

Plaintiff-Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

James A. Wexler, WSBA #7411 2025 – 201st Ave. SE Sammamish, WA 98075 (206) 849-9455 Attorneys for Defendant-Petitioner Valerie Slotke

ORIGINAL ORIGINAL

This issue affects tens of thousands of Washington homeowners.

IV STATEMENT OF CASE

A. Simultaneous Enforcement of Note and DOT Forbidden.

On or about May 16,2006, in return for a loan that Defendant-Appellant received from First Financial Services, LLC, DBA The Lending Center ("TLC"), Defendant-Appellant executed a promissory note in the amount of \$253, 575.00 ("Note") in favor of TLC. CP 4: 2-4. Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as trustee for IXIS Real Estate Capital Trust 2006-HE3 Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-HE3 ("Plaintiff-Respondent") was not the original lender.

The Note, and the underlying mortgage-debt obligation

("Obligation") for which the Note was taken as payment by TLC, were secured by a DOT in favor of TLC, the Lender. CP 4: 5-7. The DOT was given to TLC to secure, to TLC (*Lender* and *owner* of the beneficial interest in the Note and the Obligation for which the Note was taken by TLC as payment, and no one else in the world): (1) performance of the agreements and covenants contained in the Note; and (2) repayment of the Obligation for which the Note was taken as payment, and all renewals, extensions and modifications of the Payment Right. *Id*.

The DOT encumbered Defendant-Appellant's property located at 203 Fox Island Blvd., Fox Island, Washington, 98333 ("Property"). CP 4: 6-7. TLC recorded the DOT on May 24, 2006. CP 4: 8-9.

In the Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment ("Memorandum"), Plaintiff-Respondent indicates the Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS") assigned MERS' interest in the DOT to Plaintiff-Respondent and recorded the assignment on August 5, 2011. CP 4: 11-14. Further, the Memorandum asserts Plaintiff-Respondent is the "holder of the Payment Right (i.e., the Note) and "beneficiary of the DOT." CP 4: 15-16.

The appellate court, after reviewing the facts set out above and considering the arguments and documentary evidence submitted by the parties, found Plaintiff-Respondent, the alleged *holder* of the Note, had authority to enforce the Note after Defendant defaulted; and, because Plaintiff-Respondent both enforced the note and foreclosed the deed of trust in a single action, the statutory bar against simultaneous actions did not apply. *See Slip Opinion*, Appendix A-1 to A-2. Having made these two findings, the court affirmed the lower court decision. *Id.*, at A-2.

V ARGUMENT

This Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court. Tens of thousands of Washington's most vulnerable homeowners will continue to be abused by the ability of persons with whom those homeowners have no contractual relationship to sell those homeowners' homes in violation of the *security* follows the note doctrine as codified in RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), and (g).

When the security follows the note doctrine as codified in RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), and (g) is properly applied, only a transferee who becomes an owner of a mortgage note as a result of the transfer is permitted to enforce the security for the note. This is what the doctrine has meant for well over five centuries. This is what the actual doctrine still means. The misinterpretation of the doctrine that has arisen in the past decade should be clearly identified as such and eliminated.

For at least two reasons, Plaintiff-Respondent's failure to prove it is the "owner" of the Note and of the Obligation for which the Note was taken as payment should have caused the trial court to deny Plaintiff-Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure.

A. RCW 62A.3-310(b) and 61.24.030(4) prevent simultaneously enforcement of Note and DOT.

The first reason is the simplest and easiest to comprehend. Under both the UCC--RCW 62A.3-310(b)(3)--and the DTA--RCW 61.24.030(4)-a person may not *simultaneously* enforce a note and the underlying obligation for which the note is taken as payment. In the Motion for Summary Judgment and accompanying Affidavit in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, Plaintiff-Respondent bases the claim that it is entitled to a Decree of Foreclosure on Defendant-Appellant's failure to make the April 1, 2010 and subsequent Note payments. CP 5: 3-7; and CP 10: 4-10. If a party has only the right to enforce the note, the only way he can reach the lien interest contained in the DOT that secures the note is through the exercise of the right to enforce the note. Thus, from its inception, this litigation has been an attempt to enforce the Note and DOT *simultaneously*.

Both RCW 62A.3-310(b)(3) and RCW 61.24.030(4) preclude simultaneous enforcement of the note and underlying obligation for which the note is taken as payment. If there had been no other basis, on the basis of Plaintiff-Respondent's attempt to enforce the Note and Obligation

¹ Plaintiff-Respondent claims to be the owner of the Note. However, Plaintiff-Respondent, believing it must be only the holder of the Note to be entitled to foreclose, has provided absolutely no evidence that it is the owner of the Note. Because Defendant-Appellant's position is correct, proof of ownership is an issue that is material to the outcome of this case; and the lack of proof of ownership should have caused the trial court to deny Plaintiff-Respondent's motion for summary judgment.

simultaneously the trial court should have denied the Motion for Summary Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure. But there is an even more important reason that should have led to the denial of Plaintiff-Respondent's motion.

B. Transfer of Ownership Required to transfer Right to Enforce DOT.

RCW 62A.9A.-203(a), (b) and (g) is the UCC's codification of the common law "security follows the Note" legal axiom. The provision establishes the requirements that must be met for a person to obtain an *enforceable* "security interest" ("ownership interest") in a promissory note and the DOT that secures the note and obligation for which the note is taken as payment.²

In the Foreclosure Complaint, Plaintiff-Respondent alleged it was the "owner" of the note. However, Defendant-Appellant denied that allegation in the Answer to the Foreclosure Complaint, thereby putting Plaintiff-Respondent--as the party who has the burden of proof regarding contested allegations in the Complaint--to its proof on the issue.

To prove ownership of the note, Plaintiff-Respondent was obligated to meet the three requirements of RCW 62A.9A.-203(b).

Plaintiff-Respondent had to prove: (1) *value* was given for the Note; (2)

² Official Comment 9 to UCC §9-203 makes it clear that this provision is the codification of the common law principal that the "transfer of an obligation secured by a security interest or other lien on personal or real property also transfers the security interest or lien." That is, the security follows the note.

rights in the note were transferred to Plaintiff-Respondent by someone who had rights in the note or who had the right to transfer rights in the note; and (3) Plaintiff-Respondent had "possession" of the note, as the term "possession" is understood in the UCC, before it commenced this litigation. If Plaintiff-Respondent failed to meet, or prove it had met, any one of these three requirements, then it failed to obtain, or failed to prove it had obtained, an enforceable security interest (ownership interest) in the Note; and, because of RCW 62A.9A.-203(g), it simultaneously failed to obtain, or failed to prove it had obtained, an enforceable ownership interest in the DOT.

Plaintiff-Respondent's pleadings offer no proof of the first and second requirements mandated by RCW 62A.9A-203(b). As a result, independent of the statutory prohibition against simultaneous enforcement of the note and DOT (a prohibition which, standing alone, should have caused the trial court to reject Plaintiff-Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure), Plaintiff-Respondent never demonstrated that it had an enforceable interest in the Note or the DOT. Thus, even if simultaneous enforcement was not prohibited by statute, Plaintiff-Respondent would not have been entitled to Summary Judgment or a Decree of Foreclosure—especially not on a summary judgment basis.

RCW 62A.9A-203(b)(1) – (3) establishes the three criteria a transferee must satisfy to obtain an enforceable security interest (i.e., "ownership interest" [RCW 62A.1-201(b)(35)]) in a promissory note. The transferee must: (1) give *value* for the note (RCW 62A.9A-203[b][1]); (2) take the note from a "debtor" (a seller of the note (RCW 62A.9A-102[28][B]) who has rights in the note or the power to transfer rights in the note (RCW 62A.9A-203[b][2]) to a "secured party" (a person to whom a note has been sold (RCW 62A.9A-102[72][D]; and (3) take "possession" of the note after purchasing it (RCW 62A.9A-203[b][3][A], [B], [C], or [D]).

Only after the three requirements listed in the preceding paragraph have been met does the deed of trust follow the mortgage note to the transferee. *RCW 62A.9A-203(g)*. Please read the language of 9A-203(g) carefully. That language clearly makes the right to use 9A-203(g) (the codification of the common law *security follows the note* doctrine) dependent upon the transferee meeting the requirements of 9A-203(a) and (b).

The otherwise brilliant analysis of RCW 62A.9A-203 contained in *Brown v. Washington Department of Commerce*, No. 90652-1 (2015) ultimately reached the wrong result because the court felled to recognize that, pursuant to RCW 62A.9A-203(g), the DOT follows a note transfer

only if the note transfer meets the requirements of RCW 62A.9A-203(a) and (b). Moreover, with the exception of some cases decided in the last 10 years, the security follows the note doctrine has always meant the security follows a transfer of the ownership of a note.

The analysis of the security follows the note doctrine provided in this Section B is supported by more than 300 years of American commercial law history. Thousands of cases. A few case examples follow. To understand the meaning of the examples however it is important to have firmly in mind the legal meaning of the word, "assignment."

Black's Law Dictionary defines the word "Assignment" as the transfer of an assignor's *entire* interest in property, including real property: "A Transfer or making over to another of the *whole of any property*, real or personal," It includes transfers of all kinds of property (cite omitted) including negotiable instruments. The transfer by a party of *all of its rights* to some kind of property" Black's Law Dictionary 109 (5th ed. 1979). Thus, if property, real or personal, is *assigned*, then the *ownership* of that property has been transferred. This definition of the word *assignment* has existed since before the birth of this nation and has been the unchallenged rule in this country for as long as this country has been a nation.

For centuries the "security follows the note" legal axiom has meant the security follows a transfer of *ownership* of a note. The cases cited below reach back 193 years. Each of these cases—and each one represents at least 50 others that could easily be supplied—holds that the security follows the transfer of *ownership* of the note.

- appeal from the Supreme Court of Colorado Territory, the United State
 Supreme Court stated: "The note and mortgage are inseparable; the former as essential, the latter as an incident. An <u>assignment</u> of the note carries the mortgage with it, while an assignment of the latter alone is a nullity." This is a case in which the note was **assigned**, from one **owner** of the note to another for a valuable consideration. The assignee became the **owner** of the note. Carpenter is the seminal U.S. Supreme Court decision on this subject. It is still cited by court's across the country today.)
- Nance v. Woods, 79 Wash. 188, 189, 140 P. 323, (Wash. 1914) ("the mortgage follows the note").
- 3. <u>California Civil Code § 2936</u> ("The <u>assignment</u> of a debt secured by mortgage carries with it the security");
- 4. <u>In re AMSCO, Inc.</u>, 26 B.R. 358, 361 (Bankr. D. Conn. 1982) ("An assignment of the note carries the mortgage with it . . . ");

- 5. <u>Margiewicz v. Terco Properties</u>, 441 So.2d 1124, 1125 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1983) ("when a note secured by a mortgage is assigned, the mortgage follows the note into the hands of the mortgagee");
- 6. <u>Federal National Mortgage Ass'n v. Kuipers</u>, 314

 Ill.App.3d 631, 635, 732 N.E.2d 723, 727 (Ill. Ct. App. 2000) ("The assignment of a mortgage note carries with it an equitable assignment of the mortgage by which it was secured. The assignee stands in the shoes of the assignor-mortgagee with regard to the rights and interests under the note and mortgage. . . . [I]n Illinois, the assignment of the mortgage note is sufficient to transfer the underlying mortgage.").
- 7. Lagow v. Badollet, 1 Blackf. 416, 1826 WL 1087, at *3 (Ind. 1826) ("a mortgage . . . follows the debt into whose hands soever it may pass").
- 8. <u>In re Bird</u>, No. 03-52010-JS, 2007 WL 2684265, at *2-4 (Bankr. D.Md. Sept. 7, 2007) ("The note and mortgage are inseparable; the former as essential, the latter as an incident. An *assignment* of the note carries the mortgage with it").
- 9. <u>In re Ivy Properties, Inc.</u>, 109 B.R. 10, 14 Bankr. D. Mass. 1989) ("[U]nder Massachusetts common law the <u>assignment</u> of a debt carries with it the underlying mortgage, without necessity for the granting or recording of a separate mortgage assignment.");

record to establish that appellee is the current owner of the note and mortgage at issue in this case, and, therefore, the real party in interest.")

(citations to Ohio's versions of UCC §§9-109(a)(3). 9-102(a)(72)(D) and 9-203(g) omitted);

- 15. <u>MidFirst Bank, SSB v. C.W. Haynes & Co., Inc.</u> 893

 F. Supp. 1304, 1318 (D.S.C. 1994) ("South Carolina recognizes the 'familiar and uncontroverted proposition' that 'the <u>assignment</u> of a note secured by a mortgage carries with it an <u>assignment</u> of the mortgage.'
- 16. <u>Kirby Lumber Corp. v. Williams</u>. 230 F.2d 330, 333 (5th Cir. 1956) (applying Texas Law) ("The rule is fully recognized . . . that a mortgage to secure a negotiable promissory note is merely an incident to the debt, and passes by <u>assignment or transfer</u> of the note.")
- (D. V.I. 2002) (citing and quoting with approval the "RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF PROPERTY, MORTGAGES § 5.4(a) (1997). The comment to this section further explains that '[t]he principle of this subsection, that the mortgage follows the note, . . . applies even if the transferee does not know that the obligation is secured by a mortgage. . . . Recordation of a mortgage assignment is not necessary to the effective transfer of the obligation or the mortgage securing it.' Id. § 5.4 cmt. B (1997). Accordingly, in the Virgin Islands, no separate document

specifically *assigning* and transferring the mortgage which secures a note is required to accompany the *assignment* of the obligation, because the mortgage automatically follows the note.

Plaintiff-Respondent has never offered any proof it gave *value* for the note. Thus, Plaintiff-Respondent did not prove it had satisfied the first requirement for obtaining an enforceable security (ownership) interest in the Note. As previously demonstrated, the failure to prove it has an enforceable security (ownership) interest in the Note was a simultaneous failure to prove it has an enforceable security interest in the DOT. *See RCW 62A.9A-203(g)*. Also, Plaintiff-Respondent has not demonstrated, and cannot demonstrate, the entity that transferred the Note and DOT to it—MERS—had any interest in either the Note or DOT to convey. So, the MERS assignment, which the trial and appellate courts deemed irrelevant, is actually highly material to the decision of the main issue in this cas

The Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision, based upon an erroneous interpretation of the security follows the note doctrine is directly contrary to the codification of the security follows the note doctrine contained in RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), and (g).

CONCLUSION

Pursuant to 13.4(b)(4), this Court should accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals.