# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Apr 20, 2016, 3:25 pm A

NO. 928681

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VALERIE SLOTKE, an unmarried woman, Petitioner/Plaintiff,

VS.

DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY, as Trustee for IXIS REAL ESTATE CAPITAL TRUST 2006-HE3 MORTGAGE PASS THROUGH CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-HE3,

Respondent/Defendant.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert W. Norman, Jr. (WSB 37094)
Emilie K. Edling (WSB 45042)
HOUSER & ALLISON, APC
A Professional Corporation
9600 SW Oak St, Suite 570
Portland, OR 97223
Telephone: (503) 914-1382
Facsimile: (503) 914-1383

Attorneys for Respondents



#

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

### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

#### A. Standard for Review

Pursuant to the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 13.4(b), a petition for review to the Washington Supreme Court is accepted only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Slotke contends that review is warranted because the appeal raises an issue of substantial public interest. As discussed further below, Petitioner is mistaken and review is not warranted under any of the criteria established in RAP 13.4(b).

# B. Slotke's Petition for Review is a Legally Unsupportable Challenge to Supreme Court Precedent

The Washington Court of Appeals' decision in this matter involves straightforward application of settled principles of law to the undisputed facts. Slotke's petition challenges settled Washington law concerning who is entitled to enforce a note; the role of an "owner" versus a "holder" of a note; and even the most basic process for bringing a judicial foreclosure suit. As discussed further below, none of the legal issues raised by Slotke have any merit or present any undecided issue under Washington law.

# 1. <u>Deutsche Bank as Trustee was the "holder" entitled to</u> foreclose as a matter of settled law

Deutsche Bank as Trustee proved that it was entitled to enforce the Note and therefore entitled to foreclose on the Deed of Trust in the underlying foreclosure matter. Under clear Washington law, both as expressly set forth in the Revised Code of Washington and as stated by this Court, the "person entitled to enforce" a note evidencing a home loan is the holder of the note *Brown v. Washington State Dep't of Commerce*, 184 Wash. 2d 509, 524-25, 359 P.3d 771 (2015) (citing RCW 62A.3-301.) Clear Washington law dictates that a "holder" of a promissory note is "the person in possession of a negotiable instrument that is payable either to

bearer or to an identified person that is the person in possession . . . . "

RCW 62A.1-201(b)(21)(A). See also Brown, 184 Wash. 2d at 525

(quoting from statute); Bain v. Metro Mortg. Group, Inc., 175 Wash. 2d

83, 104, 285 P.3d 34 (Wash. 2012) (quoting from statute, previously codified as RCW 62A.1-201(20)(2001)).

Here, it is undisputed that Slotke was in default on her Loan, and undisputed that the Note on which she was obliged was endorsed to Deutsche Bank as Trustee, who was also in physical possession of the Note. (CP 10, 14-44.) Deutsche Bank as Trustee was therefore the holder, entitled to enforce the Note. The Court of Appeals applied the well-settled law to the facts, affirming the trial court's determination that Deutsche Bank had proved its standing to foreclose. There is no reason for this Court to review that decision.

2. Slotke's argument that Deutsche Bank as Trustee was required to prove it owned the Note is contrary to this Court's precedent and not supported by any authority

Slotke's petition for review argues that status as a holder of the Note is inadequate for Deutsche Bank as Trustee to enforce the Deed of Trust. According to Slotke, RCW 62A.9-203(a), (b), and (g) set forth requirements that must be met for a person to obtain an enforceable interest in a note so that it can enforce a deed of trust, and require an ownership interest in the Note. (Petition at 7.) Further, Slotke argues that

this Court should clarify that Washington law providing that the security follows the note is limited in that the deed of trust only follows *ownership* of the note; but does not follow holder-ship of the note.

First of all, Slotke's argument was not raised until Slotke's Reply Brief (Reply Br. at 6-10), and is therefore not preserved. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

Further, however, none of the cases cited in Slotke's petition provide specific support for the distinction argued by Slotke, let alone tee up the issue for analysis and consideration. In contrast, numerous Washington cases support the accepted principal that a party who is holder of a note is the party entitled to enforce both the note and – through foreclosure – the deed of trust. In *In re Butler*, 512 B.R. 643, 656 (Bankr.W.D.Wash.2014), *aff'd*, No. C14-1250Z, 2015 WL 9309511 (W.D. Wash. Jun. 10, 2015), the Court noted that under the deed of trust act, "a security interest follows the obligation it secures," and this is true whether the deed of trust was assigned properly or at all. In *In re Jacobson*, 402 B.R. 359, 367 (Bankr.W.D.Wash.2009), the Court noted that "[i]n Washington, only the holder of the obligation secured by the deed of trust is entitled to foreclose . . . . '[T]ransfer of the note carries with it the security, without any formal assignment or delivery, or even

mention of the latter." (quoting Carpenter v. Longan, 83 U.S. 271, 21 L.Ed. 313 (1872)).

Finally, in *Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc.*, the Supreme Court of Washington held in an en banc decision that a plain reading of the Washington Deed of Trust Act "leads us to conclude that only the actual holder of the promissory note or other instrument evidencing the obligation may be the beneficiary" with the power to proceed with foreclosure. 175 Wash. 2d 83, 89, 285 P.3d 34 (2012). The *Bain* Court's decision was based on an analysis of the Washington Deed of Trust Act, which defines who the "beneficiary" of a deed of trust is at RCW 61.24.005(2). The act is separate from the UCC and provides specific guidance regarding foreclosures. The statute provides:

"Beneficiary" means the holder of the instrument or document evidencing the obligations secured by the deed of trust, excluding persons holding the same as security for a different obligation.

RCW 61.24.005(2).

Slotke argues that that the "security follows the note" doctrine is codified in RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), and (g), and therefore these provisions must be followed in order for the security to follow the note. (Petition at 5.) But, according to *Bain*, the security follows the note rule is codified in RCW 61.24.005(2). *Bain*, 175 Wash. 2d 83, 104

("Washington's deed of trust act contemplates that the security instrument will follow the note, not the other way around.") Even if there is some historical connection between RCW 62A.9A-203 and the rule that ownership of a security follows ownership of a note, RCW 61.24.005(2) makes clear that under Washington law, the ability to enforce a security also follows the *holder* of a note.

This interpretation is further supported in *Brown*. In that case, the Washington Supreme Court analyzed the UCC at length, noting that promissory notes "embrace two sets of rights," that of the "party entitled to enforce" the note (the "PETE"), and that of the owner. *Brown*, 184 Wash. 2d at 524-25. "The PETE and the owner of the note can be the same entity, but they can also be different entities. RCW 62A.3-301 "clarifies the relationship between PETE status and ownership status. It provides that a person *need not* own a note to be entitled to enforce the note."

After discussing the fact that a note had holders and owners, with different legal rights each, the *Brown* Court then considered Washington law in order to determine who the "beneficiary" of a deed of trust is. *Id.* at 533. The question before the Court was whether the term "beneficiary" under Washington law referred to the owner of the note or the holder of the note. *Id.* at 534. The Court noted the definition of RCW 61.24.005(2)

indicating that a "beneficiary" means the "holder of the instrument or document evidencing the obligations secured by the deed of trust . . . . "

Brown, 184 Wash. 2d at 533. The Court then noted 61.24.030(7)(a),

which requires that in order to conduct a trustee's sale, the beneficiary of a deed of trust must prepare a declaration "made under the penalty of perjury stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust . . . . " Id. (citing RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)). In light of these two statutes, the Court concluded that the beneficiary of a deed of trust under Washington law is the holder of the note. Id. at 535.

The *Brown* Court also found that this conclusion was consistent with the UCC, noting that under the UCC, the PETE is the party entitled to enforce the note and the party with authority to modify and discharge the obligation, which would protect the borrower from further suit on the obligation. *Id.* (citing RCW 62A.3-604.) It follows that the holder of the note is also deemed the beneficiary of the deed of trust, and party entitled to modify, discharge, or enforce the deed of trust by virtue of its authority to modify, discharge, or enforce the note. *Id.* 

Slotke concedes that her argument that Deutsche Bank as Trustee must prove it owned the Note in order to enforce the Deed of Trust contradicts this Court's recent decision in *Brown*. (Petition at 7.) She

asks this Court to abandon *Brown*, but she fails to explain how her analysis reconciles with the explicit language in RCW 61.24.005(2) defining a beneficiary of a deed of trust as the holder of the note. In sum, Slotke's position is contradicted by well-settled Washington law, and there is no reason to accept review.

3. Slotke provides no authority for the argument that simultaneous enforcement of the Note and Deed of Trust is prohibited

Slotke argues that RCW 62A.3-310(b)(3) and RCW 61.24.030(4) prevent simultaneous enforcement of the Note and Deed of Trust.

(Petition at 5-6.) According to Slotke, Deutsche Bank as Trustee's suit attempts to enforce both the Note and the Deed of Trust at the same time because it seeks to foreclose as permitted by the Deed of Trust, but Deutsche Bank as Trustee's only claim of authority to foreclose is through its status as holder of the Note. (Petition at 6.)

The argument, though clever, is inconsistent with the Washington law cited above, which dictates that the holder of a note may foreclose the related deed of trust. Further, the Court of Appeals correctly held that RCW 61.12.120 is dispositive of the argument. That statute provides that a plaintiff in a judicial foreclosure action —

"shall not proceed to foreclose his or her mortgage while he or she is prosecuting any other action for the same debt or matter which is secured by the mortgage, or while he or she is seeking to obtain execution of any judgment in such other action; nor shall he or she prosecute any other action for the same matter while he or she is foreclosing his or her mortgage or prosecuting a judgment of foreclosure."

RCW. 61.12.120. As the Court of Appeals noted, Washington courts interpreting this code have held that, under it, "two separate actions cannot be maintained at the same time for the collection of the same debt," but there is no prohibition on enforcing both in the same suit. Deutsche Bank Nat. Trust Co. v. Slotke, 367 P.3d at 606 (2016) (citing Hinchman v. Anderson, 32 Wash. 198, 206, 72 P. 1018 (1903).) Further, the statute merely precludes a foreclosing party from suing for monetary recovery on the note at the same time it is also seeking to foreclose. Farm Credit Bank of Spokane v. Tucker, 62 Wn. App. 196, 201 (1991) (holding statute prohibits foreclosing while prosecuting another action for the same debt). See also Deere Credit, Inc. v. Cervantes Nurseries, LLC, 172 Wn. App. 1, 7 (2012) ("In other words, a creditor may not levy upon the same or additional real or personal property of a mortgage debtor after initiation of a foreclosure action unless or until the judgment remains unsatisfied after applying the proceeds of the sale of the mortgaged property to the debt.") "It does not prevent a plaintiff from pleading the terms of a note in a foreclosure action." Farm Credit, 62 Wn. App. at 201. RCW 61.12.120 is clearly on point, and allows Deutsche Bank as Trustee to foreclose on the

Property since Deutsche Bank as Trustee is not also seeking the entire obligation under the note in a separate action.

Further, Slotke's authorities are inapplicable. She cites RCW 62A.3-310(b)(3) in support, but RCW 62A.3-310(b)(3) is limited to cases in which a check or a note is given to discharge an obligation, not where a deed of trust is executed simultaneously with a note in order to secure the note. See, e.g., Aplacas of America, LLC v. Groome, 179 Wn. App. 391, 396 (2014) ("If a promissory note is taken for an obligation, such as an obligation to pay for goods sold, the obligation is suspended and subsequently discharged to the extent the note is paid. RCW 62A.3-310(b). When the note holder is also the obligee, the obligee may enforce either the note or the obligation. RCW 62A.3-310(b)(3).") See also In re Henrickson, 14 B.R. 474, 477 (D. Minn. Bankr. 1981) ("When the debtor transferred the check to Mr. Flatten and received a receipt, a negotiable instrument was given for an obligation.") (citing Minn.Stat.s. 336-3-802(1), a corollary to RCW 62A.3-310.) RCW 61.24.030(4) is inapplicable because it governs the requirements for a trustee's sale, and no trustee's sale is at issue in this case.

111 111

111

# C. Slotke's Petition Does Not Identify any Conflict Between the Court of Appeals Decision and Any Supreme Court or Other Court of Appeals Decision

This Court will accept a petition for review if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court or a decision of any other Washington Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1-2).

Respondent, however, fails to even suggest that there is a conflict.

Instead, Respondent contends that the issue it presents is has "never been addressed by this or any other court in the State of Washington." (Petition at 1.) Novelty is not a grounds for review in this Court. See In re Coats, 173 Wn.2d 123, 132-33 (2011) (noting "petitioner must persuade us that either the decision below conflicts with a decision of this court or another division of the Court of Appeals; that it presents a significant question of constitutional interest; or that it presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this court.") (citing RAP 13.4(b)).

# D. The Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Requiring a Determination by this Court.

Slotke contends that her Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court due to the number of homeowners who are "abused by the ability of persons with whom those homeowners have no contractual relationship to sell those homeowners' homes in violation of the *security follows the note* doctrine.

..." (Petition at 5.) To the contrary, Slotke faces no abuse, nor do any other homeowners who face valid foreclosure proceedings where it is established the homeowners are in default and also established that the party seeking to foreclose is the party entitled to enforce the note. To the contrary, this Petition and others like it merely present another delay tactic to keep control of property that Slotke has long since stopped paying for.

Moreover, even if this Court found that the issue raised by Slotke was an issue of substantial public interest, it is unlikely this Court could reach that issue due to Slotke's failure to properly preserve her argument before the Court of Appeals.

#### V. ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS

Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure allow an award of fees where supported by law. RAP 18.1(a). Here, the deed of trust executed by Slotke includes a provision awarding attorney's fees, including appellate fees, to a prevailing party. Consequently, if this Court denies Slotke's Petition, Respondent respectfully requests that the Court award reasonable attorney's fees and costs pursuant to RAP 18.1(a) for time spent preparing an Answer to the petition.

///

///

# VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Respondents request that this Court deny Slotke's Petition for Review.